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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.  I

          3  want to welcome everybody to today's hearing of the

          4  City Council's Committee on Transportation.  My name

          5  is John Liu, and I have the privilege of Chairing

          6  this Committee.  Today, this Committee will conduct

          7  an oversight hearing on whether the MTA is capable

          8  of having computers run subway trains safely.

          9                 We will also have a vote on a

         10  preconsidered bill that would increase Staten Island

         11  ferry service.

         12                 The Committee examined MTA's plans to

         13  automate it's trains and to go to one- person train

         14  operation on January 13, 2005, earlier this year.

         15  At that time, the MTA explained how their so called

         16  Communications- Based Train Control, or CBTC worked,

         17  and discussed its plan to implement OPTO, the One-

         18  Person Train Operation.  The MTA also stated that

         19  they expected to implement CBTC on the L lines this

         20  July, and OPTO this June.  Since that hearing,

         21  problems with CBTC and OPTO have surfaced  An MTA

         22  consultant recently presented a report outlining

         23  problems with CBTC including software problems, lack

         24  of suitable test facilities, and difficulty in

         25  obtaining proper radio frequencies used to
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          2  communicate with the trains.  The problems with CBTC

          3  have resulted in additional delays in

          4  implementation.

          5                 There have also been problems with

          6  implementing One Person Train Operation.  On April

          7  16, 2005, the MTA conducted a drill simulating the

          8  evacuation of an OPTO train during smoky conditions.

          9    The drill was held on the L train track between

         10  the Grand Street and the Graham Avenue Stations in

         11  Brooklyn.  The exercise did not go well, and proved

         12  the worst fears of critics to be correct: That it is

         13  very hard, if not impossible, for one person to

         14  safety evacuate a train in an emergency.  The drill

         15  was held with only one hundred simulated passengers,

         16  well below the 500 to 1,000 passengers that could be

         17  on a real train during the rush hour.  Yet, even

         18  with the small number of people, passengers were

         19  left behind, including those with disabilities;

         20  doors were left open on the test train which would

         21  have created a smoke condition in the cars; and the

         22  lone operator activated an alarm, disabling power to

         23  several trains carrying real passengers.

         24                 The Committee will investigate the

         25  MTA's plan with regard to the CBTC and OPTO in light
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          2  of these emerging problems.

          3                 Also on the agenda today is a vote on

          4  a preconsidered vote on a bill that will increase

          5  Staten Island ferry service.  This bill addresses

          6  one of the big injustices in New York, that while

          7  the population of Staten Island has grown, the

          8  frequency of Staten Island ferry service has

          9  remained stagnant. Ferry service is the main mode of

         10  transportation between Manhattan and Staten Island

         11  for the residents of Staten Island.  And this is our

         12  fourth hearing on Staten Island ferry service and

         13  I'm pleased that the Administration and our Council

         14  were able to work together on a bill that would help

         15  the residents of Staten Island and better integrate

         16  them into the rest of our City.  This law is

         17  necessary to ensure adequate ferry service for a

         18  large population of New Yorkers with limited

         19  transportation, limited mass transportation options,

         20  and I would recommend that my colleagues vote

         21  favorably on the bill.

         22                 I want to thank the work of the staff

         23  of this Committee, Legislative Council Phil Hahm

         24  (phonetic) as well as Roberta Ragone and Chima

         25  Obichere.
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          2                 At this time, we're joined by

          3  Committee Member Sarah Gonzalez, from Brooklyn; and

          4  Joseph Addabbo, from Queens; and James Sanders, from

          5  Queens is also here.  He's straddling the meetings,

          6  this one here and the one next door; and we're also

          7  delighted to be joined by Council Member Michael

          8  McMahon, from Staten Island.

          9                 At this time, we will call for a vote

         10  on the bill to increase Staten Island ferry service

         11  when we have quorum in this Committee, but we will

         12  proceed with the testimony from the esteemed

         13  representatives of the Metropolitan Transportation

         14  Authority.  I believe we have Mr. Fred Smith.

         15                 Good morning Mr. Smith and thank you

         16  for joining us today.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Good morning, Chairman

         18  Liu, and members of the Council Transportation

         19  Committee.  My name is Fred Smith, Vice President

         20  and Deputy Chief Engineer in the Capital Program

         21  Management Department at New York City Transit.

         22                 I'm here this morning in response to

         23  your request for a follow up to our January

         24  discussion regarding the Transit Authority's

         25  Communication- Based Train Control signal
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          2  improvement project on the L line, and specifically

          3  follow up to our recent update report at the MTA

          4  Capital Program Committee last month.

          5                 I did not prepare specific testimony,

          6  Chairman Liu, but I understand you're concerned

          7  about the schedule revisions.  I can speak to that.

          8                 CHAIRMAN LIU: Well, I do want to

          9  thank you, and your colleagues for joining us today.

         10    And immediately after we hear answers from you, we

         11  will also take testimony from Roger Toussant, head

         12  of the Transport Workers Union, Local 100.  As well

         13  as some community advocates.

         14                 A couple of weeks ago, there was a

         15  report that was issued at an MTA committee meeting

         16  where several problems with CBTC had surfaced.

         17  Could you briefly describe what those problems were?

         18                 MR. SMITH: The update was on the

         19  entire delivery of that project, which is our

         20  Communication- Based Train Control, project on the

         21  Canarsie line.  Specifically what was reported to

         22  the Board was a slippage in the schedule for

         23  completion of the project from December of this year

         24  to August of '06, an eight- month slip in the

         25  overall project schedule.
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          2                 Back in January, when I was here, I

          3  explained the project, and I believe I explained the

          4  processes we were going to go through to take us

          5  through each step or each phase of the delivery of

          6  the project.  As if our January meeting, we were

          7  entering what we referred to as the Pre- Shadow

          8  Mode, and this was a phase of the project where we

          9  would begin to collect data on the operation of the

         10  equipment.  As we completed the final testing phase,

         11  over 640 field integration tests were scheduled and

         12  are being conducted to test over 50 different

         13  functionalities of the new system.

         14                 We've continued to collect data, you

         15  stated that the report indicated that there were

         16  problems.  What we've identified in this stage, is

         17  variances which comes up when you are implementing a

         18  new computerized system.  The contractor is

         19  assessing those variances and we've asked them for a

         20  revised schedule to complete their analysis and

         21  provide resolution on those specific variances.  In

         22  the timeframe they've taken to do that, we were

         23  working under a very tight schedule for outages of

         24  services on the L line.  I think most of the

         25  community members are aware, we laid out a schedule
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          2  of weekend outages in order to do specific

          3  installations on the L line.  That consumed a number

          4  of weekends through the first half of this year.

          5                 With the contractors slippage in the

          6  schedule, we now have lost that window of

          7  opportunity.  Because we have many, many other

          8  projects that we are currently working on, and

          9  therefore, the system schedule had to be reviewed.

         10  The next possible date for those types of outages is

         11  basically late in this year and early in '06.  And

         12  therefore, the contractor's schedule had to be

         13  revised accordingly, based on our availability of

         14  service diversions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Smith, correct

         16  me if I'm wrong. I just want to talk about the

         17  timeframe for a minute.  But before I talk about the

         18  timeframe -- Well let me say that we've been joined

         19  by Council Member Lou Fidler, from Brooklyn, who has

         20  been a staunch critic, and in my opinion, rightfully

         21  so, of the plans to automate the driving of subway

         22  trains in our system at a very early stage.

         23                 We did not call this hearing for the

         24  sake of understanding -- well, we didn't call this

         25  hearing to advocate for speedy implementation of
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          2  CBTC.  Speedy implementation of CBTC is fact, what

          3  we have been calling, what we have been speaking out

          4  against.  The fact that it has not been well tested.

          5                 Now, to set the record straight, in

          6  my opinion, and correct me if I'm wrong, last

          7  Summer, in the Summer of 2004, this Committee and

          8  members of the Council raised serious concerns that

          9  the MTA was about to implement this computer- driven

         10  train plan by the end of the year, buy December of

         11  2004.  Was that not the original timeframe?

         12                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And then

         14  subsequently, as the end of 2004 approached, we

         15  continued to voice our concerns that it had not been

         16  fully tested, although the MTA continued to make

         17  statements that they were ready to implement by the

         18  end of 2004, and then at the very end of the year,

         19  the MTA decided that it was not ready.

         20                 And so we held a hearing in mid-

         21  January of 2005, asking exactly what the plans were

         22  of the MTA to implement computer- driven trains.

         23  And at that hearing, you and your colleague, Kevin

         24  O'Connell, testified that everything was a go for

         25  CBTC implementation in July of 2005.  Is that
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          2  correct so far?

          3                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So again, in

          5  January, we in this Committee, stated very clearly,

          6  that there is no way, with all of the safety

          7  concerns that people have, that specialists and

          8  technicians and engineers have raised to this

          9  Committee, and to members of the Council, that the

         10  MTA could possibly be ready to have computers drive

         11  trains this coming July.  We voiced that back in

         12  January, you and Mr. O'Connell and members of the

         13  MTA publicly insisted that the MTA had conducted all

         14  of the safety reviews, and determined that July was

         15  a good timeframe for the MTA to proceed with having

         16  computers drive the L subways.

         17                 And now, two weeks ago, we understand

         18  that at an MTA hearing, as you just pointed out,

         19  there were serious questions raised about whether or

         20  not the MTA could proceed with this.  And now, you

         21  have said that, you call it a slippage.  Which is

         22  basically that it looks like at the earliest, the

         23  MTA could not have computers drive trains until

         24  early next year.  Do I have anything wrong so far?

         25                 MR. SMITH: Yes.  Just the timing.  I
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          2  spoke to the overall project schedule.  The

          3  implementation of CBTC on the L trains will begin

          4  later this year.  The completion will be in May of

          5   '06.  So the equipment will be ready under the

          6  current schedule, by the Fall.

          7                 We definitely consider safety as our

          8  number one priority, and back in  January, we took

          9  the time to go through with you the process that we

         10  were going to use.  The variances that have been

         11  identified in the current phase of the project are

         12  not safety related.  In January, our process

         13  provided for the continuation into the data

         14  collection stage, because the safety concerns were

         15  addressed, and satisfied by the process.  We then

         16  went into the data collection phase, which has

         17  identified variances which affect not the safety of

         18  the system, but the reliability and the availability

         19  of the system.  And that's what we're dealing with

         20  right now, not safety issues.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Two things.  There

         22  will be more, but two things right now.  In your

         23  January testimony, which you sat with Kevin

         24  O'Connell to deliver, this is not even our

         25  transcript, this is a written statement prepared in
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          2  advance by you and Mr. O'Connell, it says here,

          3   "with final safety and performance testing

          4  continuing, New York City Transit anticipates fully

          5  implementing CBTC on the Canarsie line this July.

          6  So, again, we go back to the credibility of the

          7  statements.  Just two minutes ago you said that --

          8  you started talking about how -- well, you didn't

          9  really mean that you were going to have everything

         10  done, you were going to start implementing CBTC by

         11  this July, and that you would complete it by May,

         12  but in January, you testified that you anticipate it

         13  being fully implemented.  And we raised concerns

         14  that you were going ahead with fully implementing by

         15  this July, when it was clear that there were many

         16  safety issues that were unresolved at the time.

         17                 So I just ask you to please be

         18  careful, and not try to pull the wool over this

         19  Committee's eyes, in terms of shades of

         20  interpretation, or saying that well, we really meant

         21  to begin, when we are anticipating an end several

         22  months later.  I mean, we're going to hold the MTA

         23  accountable  for all of the statements made publicly

         24  and in front of this Committee.  So I just want to

         25  urge you and your colleagues to take this a little
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          2  more seriously.

          3                 Now, the second thing, and I just

          4  want to get that off my chest.

          5                 MR. SMITH: Can I respond to that?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, please.

          7                 MR. SMITH: We do take it very

          8  seriously.  And again, our testimony in January was

          9  accurate in that in that stage of the process, we

         10  had satisfied the safety procedures that we had laid

         11  out in order to allow us to go into the next phase,

         12  which was the data collection phase.  Safety doesn't

         13  end at that point.  As we explained to you in

         14  January, after the data collection stage, we would

         15  then go through another review and go through the

         16  process of certifying that we were approving to move

         17  into the next stage.  So as of January, everything

         18  that was provided in the testimony is accurate as of

         19  January.

         20                 What took place during the date

         21  collection stage has forced us now to just allow

         22  additional time until the reliability and the

         23  stability of the system is at the level that we

         24  initially required of the contractor.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that's fine,
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          2  Mr. Smith.  The point here is that we're only

          3  talking about something that took place less than

          4  four months ago.  So less than four months ago, you

          5  made very clear statements and now the facts have

          6  changed.  What we're saying here is that we told

          7  you, not you, I don't want to personalize this, we

          8  told the MTA in this Committee, that they would not

          9  be ready to implement this.  And in fact, before we

         10  take the huge leap of having computers drive our

         11  subway trains, the MTA had better look before it

         12  takes this leap.

         13                 And in fact, our worse fears have

         14  been confirmed. That the system is not ready to be

         15  implemented.  That we are not close to having

         16  computers drive subway trains in New York City. And

         17  you know what?  I'll say right now.  I doubt that

         18  you're going to be ready by May of 2006.  Because

         19  there still remain many concerns.  Many concerns

         20  that engineers have brought to the attention of this

         21  Committee.

         22                 I want to go back to what you were

         23  saying before. I am speechless to listen to you tell

         24  us that these are not safety related questions.

         25  That in a drill that involved only 100 passengers,
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          2  far fewer than the average ridership on the trains

          3  during rush hours, that you could say that the

          4  failed drill that took place two weeks ago did not

          5  represent any kind of safety hazards.  We're talking

          6  about software problems, we're talking about testing

          7  facilities being inadequate, and we're talking about

          8  radio frequencies that are not functioning well in

          9  the subway tunnels.

         10                 And for you to say, for the MTA to

         11  say that these are not safety issue, I wonder what

         12  exactly is a safety issue?  The software problems

         13  are obviously big problems, because computers run by

         14  software.  And if it is a problem with the software,

         15  there's going to be a problem with the computer and

         16  here we are relying on the computer to drive the

         17  subway.

         18                 The testing facilities being

         19  inadequate, we said that from the beginning.  We

         20  said that this has not been properly tested on our

         21  subway system.  It may have been tested in the

         22  factory, well fine.  But it has not been tested in

         23  the subway system, so it is clearly too early to say

         24  that you can roll this out safely.

         25                 And third, the radio frequencies. We
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          2  said this also. That we weren't even talking about

          3  an MTA plan to let computers drive subways.  We were

          4  talking about an MTA plan to allow computers to

          5  drive subways through the use of radio frequencies.

          6  Radio transmissions.  We know that there are so many

          7  problems currently with regard to police radios and

          8  work crew radios not functioning properly in many of

          9  our subway tunnels.  And yet we're going to entrust

         10  that a computer could communicate adequately with a

         11  subway train via radio signal.

         12                 Those are all clearly safety issues.

         13  If you mean to say these are not safety issues

         14  because there's always a fail safe, I completely

         15  disagree with that.  Maybe you can respond to some

         16  of the things, because you don't agree with what I

         17  have said.  But please don't say that these are not

         18  safety issues when if you ask the average New Yorker

         19  about some of these problems that were experienced

         20  two weeks ago, they will absolutely tell you that

         21  they are concerned for safety.

         22                 MR. SMITH: I cannot speak to details

         23  of the drill. I was not involved in the drill.  But

         24  it was characterized as an evacuation drill. It was

         25  not a test of specific CBTC functionality or
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          2  equipment. Or safety concerns with respect to the

          3  technology in the CBTC equipment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Smith, why is it

          5  that a drill was conducted?  I'm not even asking you

          6  what happened during the drill, because as you say,

          7  you weren't at the drill.  But --

          8                 MR. SMITH: I can't speak for the

          9  drill.  I wasn't involved with the planning of that,

         10  or the operation of that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So you have no idea

         12  why the drill was conducted?

         13                 MR. SMITH: It was not a test of the

         14  CBTC equipment. It was not a demonstration of the

         15  CBTC operation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  We'll

         17  come back.  But let me allow my colleague, Council

         18  Member Fidler to speak on this. Councilman Fidler.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman, and I want to express my appreciation to

         21  you and the Transportation Committee for holding

         22  another hearing on this issue, which, quite frankly,

         23  continues to plague my constituents who are going to

         24  be asked to be the lab rats or the guinea pigs along

         25  with transit workers about to get on CBTC trains,
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          2  because they have no alternative in mass transit

          3  other than the Canarsie line.

          4                 I'm going to start with the easy

          5  question.  You said that you're going to begin

          6  operating CBTC later this year, on the L train.

          7  What precisely does that mean, begin?  Because you

          8  said you're going to implement it fully by next

          9  year.  So what's a partial implementation of CBTC?

         10                 MR. SMITH: The Canarsie line is an

         11  11- mile long line, double track.  And the project

         12  to implement CBTC fully is a staged, or a phased

         13  process.  The first segment, which is the southern

         14  most portion, between Rockaway Parkway and Broadway

         15  Junction, would be the first leg that would be put

         16  into service, into revenue service.  With CBTC

         17  functionality.  Again, operations would be

         18  monitored, and from there, we would continue to

         19  phase in segments of the line all the way to Eight

         20  Avenue in Manhattan.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So part of the

         22  L line will run fully CBTC, and then the rest of it

         23  will be operated as it is currently being operated.

         24  Is that what you're saying?

         25                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And how is

          3  that transfer over going to be made?  At the

          4  Broadway Junction?

          5                 MR. SMITH: The indication that the

          6  train operator who is operating the train sees will

          7  indicate that they are moving from CBTC territory

          8  into non- CBTC territory.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And why is it

         10  being done that way?  Why is it not being done the

         11  whole line at one time, as opposed to part of the

         12  line?

         13                 MR. SMITH: It's being done that way

         14  because currently, the technology provided in the

         15  signal system has wayside signals throughout the

         16  entire length of the line.  When we complete the

         17  transformation to the CBTC technology, we will be

         18  eliminating the automatic signal that exists between

         19  the switch locations.  And the train will run on the

         20  CBTC technology.  It will not be guided by the

         21  signals that usually appear every 500 feet.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I don't

         23  think I asked the question terribly clearly, so I

         24  apologize.  Why aren't you waiting until the entire

         25  line is ready?  Why are we doing Rockaway Parkway to
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          2  Broadway Junction and then the rest of the line

          3  farther on down the road?

          4                 MR. SMITH: Because of the amount of

          5  testing when you install the new equipment, and

          6  because of the number of switch, or interlocking

          7  locations, there are a total of seven on the line,

          8  that amount of work takes, for one interlocking, an

          9  entire weekend. Fifty- three consecutive hours.  So

         10  as not to disrupt the normal rush hour service

         11  Monday through Friday, we schedule it so that we

         12  will do the bulk of that work and that testing,

         13  installation and the testing on the weekends.  And

         14  therefore, we've laid out a schedule of seven

         15  weekends in order to do that.

         16                 And that's why I mentioned earlier

         17  that the slippage in the current schedule has forced

         18  that window of opportunity to be shifted into the

         19  beginning of 2006.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And what is it

         21  that you're testing?

         22                 MR. SMITH: We test all the features

         23  of the CBTC technology, we insure that

         24  operationally, all the equipment is not only

         25  functioning, but the indication, the inputs, the
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          2  outputs are all correct.

          3            COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is there no

          4  interrelationship between the equipment that's being

          5  installed between Rockaway and Broadway Junction and

          6  the equipment that's being installed farther north

          7  of Broadway Junction?

          8                 MR. SMITH: I really didn't understand

          9  the question.  No difference --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Is there no

         11  interaction between the equipment?  Does one -- if

         12  the equipment that you're installing in one half of

         13  the system not going to interact in any way with the

         14  equipment in the rest of the system?

         15                 MR. SMITH: No.  The equipment is

         16  consistent throughout the line.  The new equipment

         17  is consistent throughout the line.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But in other

         19  words, is there going to be any relationship between

         20  the equipment you're installing and the equipment

         21  you're still testing?  Farther up the line?

         22                 MR. SMITH: What will be tested is the

         23  new equipment and the connections with the new

         24  equipment.  I'm not following your --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So if the
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          2  stops between Rockaway and Broadway Junction, the

          3  equipment that you're putting in and testing now,

          4  will have nothing to do with the equipment from

          5  Broadway Junction to the other terminus of the L

          6  line.

          7                 MR. SMITH: Well, it's an entire

          8  system.  When you say it will have nothing to do

          9  with it, it's part of the complete package.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, don't you

         11  need to continually be testing the equipment from

         12  Rockaway Parkway to Broadway Junction, until you

         13  have the whole system put in?

         14                 MR. SMITH: We test more than the

         15  equipment.  The equipment gets functional testing

         16  which I described over 600 functional, I'm sorry,

         17  field integration tests have been conducted already.

         18    But there's also functional testing of the

         19  different features of the software that goes beyond

         20  the equipment.  That's a functionality of the system

         21  as well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So we're

         23  continuing to test equipment that you're going to

         24  start to put on line in the Fall, you're going to

         25  continue to be testing it while you're asking people
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          2  to use it.

          3                 MR. SMITH: No.  The equipment will be

          4  functionally tested, that will be completed before

          5  we go into the next stage. All the equipment will be

          6  tested.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Has it been

          8  tested yet?

          9                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And it's

         11  passed all the tests.  You're assuring this

         12  Committee that it is 100 percent safe.

         13                 MR. SMITH: The equipment has been

         14  integration tested, there are no safety with any of

         15  the equipment that has been installed or tested.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Do you see any

         17  relationship at all between CBTC and OPTO?

         18                 MR. SMITH: No.  They are separate.

         19  We explained that back in January.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, you

         21  explained it back in January, but not to everyone's

         22  satisfaction.  I mean, my understanding is that CBTC

         23  is being set up in large measure because of the

         24  plans for OPTO.

         25                 MR. SMITH: The schedules for
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          2  implementation of CBTC and OPTO are completely

          3  separate.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: They're

          5  completely separate. Which is why you come here to

          6  this Council today and say you had nothing to do

          7  with this drill from two weeks ago because it was

          8  OPTO and not CBTC.

          9                 MR. SMITH: The Transit Authority

         10  conducts drills four, six times a year, working

         11  closely with emergency services, Fire, Police.

         12  That's standard procedure to conduct a safety drill.

         13  The Chairman asked specifically about CBTC safety

         14  and features. That was not part of that safety

         15  drill.  We weren't demonstrating CBTC safety

         16  features.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Was that a

         18  CBTC, was CBTC employed on that train during that

         19  drill?  Where did the drill take place?

         20                 MR. SMITH: I can't speak to the

         21  details of the drill.  I was not involved with it at

         22  all.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Come on, let's

         24  be frank.  I mean, you know, I read about the drill

         25  in the newspaper.  You work for the MTA.  You must
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          2  know something about the drill, right?  I mean

          3  you're not coming here and telling me that -- you

          4  walk in here today and you're deeply involved in

          5  this project, but you know nothing about this drill.

          6    That's not really what you're saying, is it?

          7                 MR. SMITH: My responsibilities are in

          8  the Capital Program Department.  I don't have enough

          9  time in the day to be aware of every operational

         10  project and study and test that's going on.  We run

         11  thousands of trains every day.  That's not my area

         12  of responsibility.  If you need to know specifically

         13  what took place with respect to that drill, then we

         14  can provide for you the individuals that --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And who would

         16  those individuals be?  Because clearly I would have

         17  thought the MTA would have provided that individual

         18  today.  Because quite frankly, my constituents read

         19  on pages two and three of Newsday, about that drill

         20  with horror.  Because they're the people who are

         21  going to get on this train.

         22                 Who are the individuals who can tell

         23  us about that Mr. Smith?

         24                 MR. SMITH: Drills that are

         25  prearranged with emergency services, Police and Fire
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          2  Department are usually coordinated by the System

          3  Safety Department within New York City Transit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And since

          5  you're in the Capital division, you have no

          6  connection with the safety people.

          7                 MR. SMITH: Not with respect to

          8  drills, no.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I would submit

         10  not in respect to CBTC either.  So let me ask you a

         11  very specific question about CBTC and safety,

         12  because I think this is in your purview, and I know

         13  you were sitting here when Mr. O'Connell gave me one

         14  of the most astonishing answers I've heard to a

         15  question in a long time. I asked about the ability

         16  of somebody to hack into your radio wave signal, and

         17  affect whether or not your home- based computer will

         18  not in effect lose a train.  And you said, "We

         19  haven't considered that question, Councilman".  And

         20  I'm pretty sure you'll get that in the transcript.

         21  Have you considered it since?

         22                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And what's the

         24  answer?

         25                 MR. SMITH: The answer is the studies

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  that we have had conducted, that not to our

          3  knowledge is the capability available outside to

          4  hack into the proprietary system that we are

          5  installing on the L line.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Why, because

          7  the signal is encrypted?

          8                 MR. SMITH: The signal does have

          9  encryption for security, yes, it does.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Please tell me

         11  that that's not the only reason, because high school

         12  kids break codes.  The people are chuckling, but the

         13  fact of the matter is, the Pentagon computer has

         14  been hacked into, and I'd like to think that that's

         15  probably more secure than your computer is going to

         16  be.

         17                 If the only reason that you feel that

         18  that computer cannot be hacked into is because the

         19  code is encrypted, please tell me you have a better

         20  answer than that.

         21                 MR. SMITH: No. It's not only the

         22  encryption.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Than what

         24  else?

         25                 MR. SMITH: I don't think it's
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          2  appropriate in this forum for us, Councilman, to get

          3  into the details of how to try to hack into a

          4  computerized system, whether it's a Transit

          5  Authority train control system or it's a data system

          6  within New York City government.  I just don't think

          7  this is the appropriate forum.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm not asking

          9  you how to hack into it, I'm asking you to tell me

         10  why it's not possible.  And trust me, I don't know

         11  enough about computers that anything you would tell

         12  me here would allow me to go home to my desktop

         13  computer and hack in.

         14                 I have tens of thousands of

         15  constituents who are going to get on this train.

         16  And when I told them the answer this Committee got

         17  when you were last here, they were horrified.  I

         18  need a better answer than that.  You're asking my

         19  constituents to get on this train.

         20                 MR. SMITH: Based on the studies that

         21  we've done, Councilman, the system cannot be hacked

         22  into.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well that

         24  would probably be the first system in the world that

         25  couldn't be hacked into.  So I'm very impressed, and
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          2  I'd like to know with whom you can share those

          3  studies so that the people who are in charge of

          4  making this project succeed aren't the people

          5  evaluating the safety of the system.  Who can that

          6  be shared with?

          7                 MR. SMITH: Councilman, we are not

          8  going to go into the details of the studies that

          9  have been done with respect to hacking into the

         10  system.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So we just

         12  have to trust you on that.

         13                 MR. SMITH: I gave my answer

         14  Councilman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: We just have

         16  to trust the people who are in charge of all of this

         17  to do it.  That it's safe. Because you say so.  I

         18  don't think that's an adequate answer.  I really

         19  don't.

         20                 Last question, and then I'll turn the

         21  mike back over.  How much, at this point, has the

         22  MTA spent on the L line on CBTC?

         23                 MR. SMITH: Well when you say CBTC,

         24  the CBTC is a signal improvement to the line.  The

         25  Canarsie line has also undergone additional
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          2  improvements other than the train control system,

          3  with respect to track improvement, yard improvement,

          4  installation of CCTV, public address and customer

          5  information signage.  The total package of all

          6  projects to date that are in progress, completed and

          7  in progress is $288 million.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, first of

          9  all, the track improvements and the signage all of

         10  that is all related to CBTC. That was your testimony

         11  the last time.  And the number the last time was

         12  $288 million.  So you're telling me that nothing has

         13  been expended since January?

         14                 MR. SMITH: I'm giving you total

         15  project costs, Councilman.  What the total expense

         16  will be when completed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, when you

         18  gave us the $288 million the last time, that was a

         19   "will be", that wasn't the "was".

         20                 MR. SMITH: No.  The $288 million is

         21  the total of all the projects I just mentioned.  The

         22  total investment into the Canarsie line for capital

         23  improvement.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         25  frankly, I think we need to get the person from the
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          2  MTA who doesn't have blinders on and might be able

          3  to speak to the safety issue that were related to

          4  the evacuation drill here before the Council.

          5  Because, quite frankly, in the world that my

          6  constituents are living in, one hand needs to know

          7  what the other is doing.  And apparently, that's not

          8  the world that the MTA lives in.

          9                 So I guess we need to get the other

         10  hand here so they can tell us exactly why their

         11  evacuation drill, which will be on a one- person

         12  operated train, which is exactly why the MTA is

         13  seeking to put in CBTC, and so they are infinitely

         14  and obviously related to each other, why that

         15  evacuation drill was an unmitigated disaster.  And

         16  what they're doing about it.  And I'd ask that we

         17  get that person here as soon as we can.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Councilman

         19  Fidler.

         20                 Just as a matter of record, when we

         21  call our hearing in this Committee, we invite any

         22  agencies that have something to do with the issue or

         23  the agenda of the hearing, and we do not specify

         24  exactly which individuals we feel should be

         25  testifying at our hearing.  Rather, we leave it up
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          2  to the agency to determine who best can answer our

          3  questions.  And we stated very clearly that we would

          4  be asking questions about CBTC and the lack of

          5  safeguards that have come to surface in the last

          6  couple of weeks.  It's up to the agency to determine

          7  who best to send.

          8                 Now, in Mr. Smith's case, I suppose

          9  he testifies that he does not have any knowledge of

         10  the drill, the OPTO drill that took place a couple

         11  of weeks ago, which may very well be true, and we'll

         12  give him the benefit of the doubt.  But it's clear

         13  that the MTA does not consider CBTC and OPTO to be

         14  completely separate concepts.  In fact, they are

         15  tied very much together.  CBTC and OPTO.  And so

         16  whoever made the decision at the MTA to send Mr.

         17  Smith with his limited knowledge of the OPTO drill

         18  that took place a couple of weeks ago, clearly had

         19  something to hide from the public.  We will

         20  certainly hear from Local 100 with regard to their

         21  view of what happened two weeks ago.

         22                 But it's always at the discretion of

         23  the Metropolitan Transportation Authority in

         24  responding to our invitations to come to public

         25  hearings.  It's for them to decide who best to send,
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          2  and to answer questions.  And if they chose to send

          3  someone who is not able to answer the questions of

          4  this Committee, well that shows that there is

          5  something that the agency is trying to hide.

          6                 We've been joined by several other

          7  members of this Committee.  Council Member Oliver

          8  Koppell, from the Bronx; Council Member Andrew

          9  Lanza, from Staten Island; Council Member Helen

         10  Sears, from Queens; Council Member Diana Reyna, from

         11  Brooklyn and Queens; and Council Member Miguel

         12  Martinez, from Manhattan.

         13                 I do have a few follow up questions

         14  for you Mr. Smith, but at this time I'd like to ask

         15  you and the public for their indulgence as we take a

         16  few minutes to vote on a bill concerning the

         17  increase of service on the Staten Island ferry. This

         18  bill is a preconsidered bill, that will amend the

         19  Administrative Code of the City of New York, to

         20  increase the level of the Staten Island ferry

         21  service.

         22                 At this time, I will recommend that

         23  Committee Members vote "Yes" on this bill.  This is

         24  a bill that has been negotiated between the Council

         25  and the Administration and I think there is a large
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          2  consensus that has been reached on this bill.

          3                 I suppose before we call for a vote,

          4  let me turn the floor over, or offer the floor to

          5  Council Member Michael McMahon, who has been a

          6  strong proponent of this bill.  If you would like to

          7  say a few words.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chairman.  I know that this Committee is dealing

         10  with a different matter, so I will not abuse the

         11  privilege you have extended to me to speak this

         12  morning.

         13                 I just want to say for the record, or

         14  to express to you and this Committee and your staff,

         15  the heartfelt gratitude of the people of Staten

         16  Island.  This is one brief moment in time that we do

         17  not feel like we are the forgotten borough.

         18  Although, I guarantee you tomorrow I will be back to

         19  tell you that we still are the forgotten borough.

         20                 This bill represents a reasonable

         21  compromise between Speaker Miller and the Mayor.  I

         22  commend them both for doing that, for putting

         23  politics aside and providing the best possible

         24  service for the people of Staten Island that we can,

         25  given the mandates of the Coast Guard, given the
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          2  limitations on overtime, yet compared to the need.

          3  And as you said, the work of this Committee showed,

          4  as the work of Council Member Gioia's Committee

          5  showed, the population of Staten Island has nearly

          6  doubled in 40 years, yet there have been 40 years

          7  that have actually been service cuts to the ferry.

          8                 This is our lifeline to the rest of

          9  the world.  This is our subway, our bus, our

         10  commuter railroad, and our Roosevelt Island Tramway

         11  all rolled into one.  Our ferry is or main means of

         12  mass transportation.  Until Mr. Toussant and his

         13  union can get us more express buses, the ferry is

         14  the main game in town.

         15                 And this bill is necessary.  As we

         16  saw this past weekend, with the jam up with the

         17  bicycle riders, from the five borough race on Staten

         18  Island.  Sometimes we need to help DOT manage the

         19  ferry better.  And that's what we're doing today.

         20                 So on behalf of the people of Staten

         21  Island, my colleagues Jim Oddo and Andy Lanza, and

         22  everyone involved, I want to thank you all for at

         23  least, for a brief moment, not allowing Staten

         24  Island to be the forgotten borough.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council
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          2  Member McMahon. I'd like to also offer the floor to

          3  Council Member Andrew Lanza, from Staten Island and

          4  a member of the Transportation Committee who has

          5  advocated for this as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you,

          7  Chairman Liu.

          8                 I want to associate myself with

          9  Council Member McMahon's remarks, and remind folks

         10  that Staten Island has endured a legacy of neglect

         11  when it comes to infrastructure and mass transit

         12  options.  And this bill, I think is a step in the

         13  direction of reversing that trend and addressing

         14  that gap.  I want to commend Councilman Mike

         15  McMahon, my colleague James Oddo, the Speaker, you

         16  Chairman Liu, and Mayor Bloomberg for making this

         17  happen. It's very gratifying to watch folks around

         18  here bury the hatchet, even if only temporarily, but

         19  certainly long enough to do the people's work.  And

         20  that's what this bill accomplishes.  It doesn't go

         21  far enough, as Councilman McMahon will tell you, but

         22  certainly it represents a tremendous improvement

         23  over what exists, and has existed for a long time.

         24  But there's work to do, and we're going to continue

         25  to do that.  I know Councilman McMahon, myself,
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          2  Councilman Oddo, you'll be hearing from us.

          3                 But again, this was accomplished

          4  through the spirit of cooperation and this is good

          5  news for the people of not only of Staten Island,

          6  but the people of the City of New York.  Thank you

          7  Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          9  Member Lanza.

         10                 At this time I'll ask the Clerk to

         11  call the Roll.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Liu

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I just want

         22  to commend Council Member Lanza and McMahon for the

         23  work that they do for the people of their Island.

         24  The second island.  Manhattan is the first island.

         25  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gonzalez

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lanza

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Again,

          8  Chairman, I want to congratulate the parties

          9  involved.  Councilman McMahon, Councilman Oddo, the

         10  Mayor, yourself, and the Speaker.  And I vote Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Out of a vote of eight

         12  in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         13  abstentions, the item is adopted.  Council Members

         14  please sign the Committee Report.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         16  Congratulations to the people of Staten Island, and

         17  to the people of New York City.

         18                 Well, Mr. Smith, I'd like to invite

         19  you back to the hot seat. As they call it.

         20                 I just want to establish a few things

         21  for the record.  In January, I understand you said

         22  that this is back then as true, but I do want to

         23  state very clearly, in January, representatives of

         24  the MTA, including yourself, testified that all of

         25  the safety tests have been conducted and that the
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          2  MTA expects to implement, to fully implement CBTC in

          3  July of 2005.  That was stated in January.  Now, two

          4  weeks ago, at an MTA committee meeting, serious

          5  problems were raised as to whether the system was in

          6  fact fully tested for operation.  And the decision

          7  was that it was not ready to be implemented.  And so

          8  that the earliest that the MTA would implement it

          9  would be the beginning of 2006.

         10                 Now, you earlier stated, Mr. Smith,

         11  that the problems were not safety related.  So I

         12  just want to discuss with you briefly, some of these

         13  points.  My understanding is that there were

         14  problems related to software.  Were there any

         15  problems related to software,  the software integral

         16  to the CBTC system?

         17                 MR. SMITH: The CBTC system is a

         18  significant software package.  There are over

         19  800,000 lines of code in the software system.  The

         20  variances that I mentioned earlier are software

         21  related.  Because the observations that are seen

         22  during testing are inconsistent with what we expect

         23  in the delivered system.  So it's up to software

         24  engineers to analyze them and then resolve them,

         25  through changes in the code.
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          2                 CHAIR PERSON LIU: What do you mean by

          3  variances?

          4                 We have a Zoning Committee meeting

          5  next door, and so we talk about variances to the

          6  Building Code often.  But do you mean -- I think

          7  you're referring to software bugs.  The problems in

          8  the software, is that what a variance is?

          9                 MR. SMITH: You can refer to them as

         10  bugs, yes, they're variances.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I just want to make

         12  sure I understand the lingo correctly.  The software

         13  bugs, do they pose any kind of safety concerns for

         14  passengers and workers?

         15                 MR. SMITH: No.  The variances that

         16  take place, or bugs if you will, cause the system to

         17   -- you may not want to hear this -- to fail safe,

         18  or stop.  So if there's a glitch or a bug, then the

         19  system my be interrupted, or the train may come to a

         20  stop.               That's why our testing right now

         21  is for availability of the system.  We don't want to

         22  have unscheduled stops of the train.  It may start

         23  right up and keep going, but that's unacceptable.

         24  Therefore, the contractor has to prove that the

         25  system is stable, meaning that they meet the
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          2  availability criteria that we've established in the

          3  contract.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: When you say come to

          5  a stop, do you mean that the subway train gradually

          6  rolls to a stop and then refuses to budge because of

          7  this software bug?  Or do you mean that it could

          8  potentially come to an abrupt halt?

          9                 MR. SMITH: There's a lot of

         10  redundancy in the system.  I think we explained that

         11  last time.  There are backup systems, and those have

         12  to function reliably as well.  So it's designed so

         13  that if one A system fails, the B system takes over.

         14

         15                 But we've set very high criteria for

         16  the availability of both the A and the B systems to

         17  back up the redundancy.  So if the redundancy fails

         18  more often than we allow for it, that's not

         19  acceptable to us.  And that's the testing that's

         20  proceeding as we speak.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, of course, we

         22  would expect that there would be redundancy in the

         23  system so that safety can really be maximized.  But

         24  you didn't answer my question.  My question was,

         25  when you say that the software bugs can cause the
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          2  subway train to stop, do you mean that it might

          3  inadvertently allow the subway system to gradually

          4  roll to a stop?  Or do you mean that there could be

          5  an abrupt stop of the subway train?

          6                 MR. SMITH: Depending upon the bugs,

          7  and a combination of the bugs, you could get an

          8  emergency stop.  Similar to what we have right now

          9  on the system, where you get what's called a "brakes

         10  in an emergency" and the train comes to a stop.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: When there's an

         12  emergency stop, is there a potential for people to

         13  get hurt?  If someone pulls the emergency brake, is

         14  there a potential for people on the subway train to

         15  get hurt?

         16                 MR. SMITH: There's a possibility,

         17  yes.  Depending on their position. Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If a subway comes to

         19  an emergency stop, based on a software bug, is there

         20  a potential for people on that subway train to get

         21  hurt?

         22                 MR. SMITH: Well, again, we're talking

         23  about testing. There are no people on the train, so

         24  this is the purpose of the testing process.  It's to

         25  eliminate these bugs so we don't have them in normal
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          2  revenue operations.  We're not going to allow that.

          3  That's why we're resolving those issues.  That's why

          4  it's unacceptable for us --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Smith, you

          6  testified that the problems experienced during the

          7  testing had nothing to do with safety.  So I'm

          8  asking you, if there is a problem with safety?  All

          9  you have to say is "No".  But earlier you testified

         10  that the problems have nothing to do with safety.

         11  Now you're saying that well, there could be problems

         12  and that's why we're doing the testing.

         13                 We're questioning how far along the

         14  testing is.  And whether or not the MTA has fully

         15  conducted all its safety testing to insure that the

         16  CBTC system could be ready to roll.

         17                 Now, my question to you once again

         18  is, if the software bug causes a subway train to

         19  come to an emergency halt, could people on that

         20  train potentially be hurt?

         21                 MR. SMITH: You're asking me two

         22  things.  I thought you were asking me if it's an

         23  unsafe event.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I was asking very

         25  clearly.  First I asked you if someone pulled the
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          2  emergency brake on the train, if people on that

          3  train could be hurt.  Your answer was yes.  Now, I'm

          4  asking you if the train came to an emergency halt

          5  because of a software glitch, could people on that

          6  train be hurt?  The answer in my mind is "yes",

          7  because an emergency halt is an emergency halt. It

          8  doesn't matter if it was because of someone pulling

          9  the emergency brake lever, or whether it was due to

         10  a software glitch.            Obviously, you're not

         11  going to answer the question. Let me say to you and

         12  the MTA, that the software glitches pose a safety

         13  hazard to passengers and workers on that train.  You

         14  can dispute that, I'll give you one chance to do it.

         15                 Next, the testing facilities.  We

         16  stated in January, and in the latter part of last

         17  year, that we had very serious concerns about this

         18  computer- driven train scheme.  Because it had not

         19  been adequately tested in real life.  In real

         20  conditions.  And in January, the MTA testified that

         21  it had been tested, and it was ready to go in July.

         22  Now, is it necessary to test the CBTC, the computer-

         23  driven train, in real live conditions before it gets

         24  rolled out?

         25                 MR. SMITH: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are there adequate

          3  testing facilities in the system?

          4                 MR. SMITH: The testing that we are

          5  doing currently is on the line during service

          6  diversions, where we reroute revenue service onto

          7  one track, and we take exclusive use of one of the L

          8  line tracks to do the testing.  Do the full test.

          9  That's what we're doing right now.  But because of

         10  that, you can only do that around the peak periods.

         11  They're only available to do it at night and on

         12  weekends.  And therefore, the duration of the

         13  testing extends out much further, than say, a brand

         14  new system where you have exclusive use of both

         15  tracks if you're putting into effect a brand new

         16  line, or multiple lines.

         17                 So we work around the availability of

         18  the off- peak periods.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well then, why would

         20  the MTA consultant state for the record, that they

         21  did not believe that there were adequate testing

         22  facilities?  Do they mean that there's just not

         23  enough time to do it on the actual L line?  What

         24  exactly do they mean?

         25                 MR. SMITH: I think the comment from
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          2  the oversight consultant was that they supported the

          3  Transit Authority's analysis that for future

          4  installation and to expedite future testing on other

          5  lines, we would benefit from a fully functional test

          6  track to be constructed.  That we would invest in

          7  such a facility.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So it's the

          9  professional expertise that says that the system

         10  really can't be fully tested because the facilities

         11  are not there.

         12                 MR. SMITH: No.  That's not correct.

         13  It can be tested.  It takes a longer time because

         14  you're limited to the off peak periods.  If you have

         15  an exclusive track that's dedicated to nothing but

         16  testing, then you can tend to keep a tighter

         17  schedule.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that means --

         19  does the MTA concur with that outside oversight

         20  entity?

         21                 MR. SMITH: Well, the oversight

         22  consultant concurred with the Transit Authority's

         23  recommendation from lessons learned. We will analyze

         24  whether we can identify a location that we can

         25  invest in such a facility going forward.  And that's
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          2  underway.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You're saying that

          4  the outside oversight consultant concurred with the

          5  Transit Authority. Actually, the Transit Authority

          6  had a schedule to begin with.  Now, this outside

          7  oversight consultant is saying that well, it needs a

          8  great deal more time so that adequate testing can be

          9  conducted.  So they're not concurring.  Maybe the TA

         10   'fessed up and said, Okay, we were wrong

         11  originally, that it does require more time.  If you

         12  agree to that then we can say that the outside

         13  oversight consultant concurred with the TA.  But it

         14  certainly didn't concur with the TA beforehand,

         15  several months ago when you thought you were ready

         16  to roll the system out.

         17                 MR. SMITH: You're correct.  We agree

         18  with that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So once again, this

         20  is somewhat disingenuous for the MTA to talk about

         21  concurring with their -- it's disingenuous for the

         22  MTA to say that their outside consultant concurred

         23  with the Transit Authority, when in fact, the

         24  outside consultant does not concur with what the

         25  Transit Authority originally said.  It only concurs
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          2  with it once the Transit Authority admitted that

          3  they made a mistake.  It's a little frustrating

          4  here.  But I think we established that point.

          5                 The last point that I'd like to

          6  establish is the point about the radio frequencies.

          7  CBTC is that going to be -- my understanding is that

          8  the CBTC system relies on radio communications

          9  between the controlling computer and the subway

         10  train.  Is that correct?

         11                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are there problems

         13  transmitting radio signals inside subway tunnels?

         14                 MR. SMITH: We have not identified

         15  problems transmitting between our wayside equipment

         16  and our computers on the L line.  No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What did you say,

         18  the roadside equipment?  Does that mean --

         19                 MR. SMITH: You're asking me with

         20  respect to the L line and the testing that we have

         21  performed to date, we have not identified any

         22  problems with transmitting using radio frequency

         23  technology between the wayside equipment and the

         24  computer on the train.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So then does that
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          2  mean that you disagree with your MTA consultant,

          3  Carter Burgess on that point? Because they have said

          4  that there is a difficulty in obtaining proper radio

          5  frequencies used to communicate with the trains.  Do

          6  you disagree with that?

          7                 MR. SMITH: Well, I think there's --

          8  you have to understand what they're saying.  They

          9  are speaking to specific frequencies, and licensing

         10  of specific frequencies.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So they're saying

         12  that legally you can't have the frequencies needed

         13  to communicate between the computer and the train?

         14                 MR. SMITH: Unlicensed frequencies are

         15  available and that's what the system is using.

         16  They're speaking to the Transit Authority's approach

         17  to the FCC for dedicated licensed frequencies.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So in January, the

         19  MTA thought that they would have this in place by

         20  July.  And they didn't even have the radio

         21  frequencies?

         22                 MR. SMITH: No.  That's not correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Than what is --

         24                 MR. SMITH: They had radio

         25  frequencies.  You're speaking to a comment by the
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          2  Carter Burgess report.  Which relates to obtaining

          3  dedicated, licensed frequencies just for Transit

          4  Authority use.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So in other words,

          6   --

          7                 MR. SMITH: We have frequencies.

          8  We're using frequencies.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So this goes

         10  back to Council Member Fidler's point.  That you do

         11  have the frequencies.  I guess there's nothing that

         12  prohibits you from using the frequencies?

         13                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the FCC has not

         15  given you exclusive rights to those frequencies.

         16                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So anybody could be

         18  using those frequencies.

         19                 MR. SMITH: That' correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And Carter Burgess

         21  is saying that, your outside consultant, is saying

         22  that the MTA really should have exclusive rights to

         23  these frequencies.  Is that what they're saying?

         24                 MR. SMITH: They're supporting our

         25  position, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: They're supporting

          3  your position. They're supporting the MTA position

          4  that the MTA should have exclusive rights to these

          5  frequencies.

          6                 MR. SMITH: The issue of exclusive

          7  frequencies --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Does the MTA believe

          9  that it should have exclusive right to these

         10  frequencies?

         11                 MR. SMITH: The Transit Authority has

         12  proposed to seek licensed frequencies.  It's an

         13  issue for the FCC, not for the oversight consultant.

         14

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You just said that

         16  the outside consultant agrees with the MTA's

         17  position.  That presumably being that --

         18                 MR. SMITH: It's an industry issue,

         19  it's not specific to MTA or CBTC.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: See we're not --

         21                 MR. SMITH: You can call it unlicensed

         22  frequencies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Our main concern is,

         24  and will continue to be safety of passengers and

         25  workers.  And we have said very clearly that the MTA
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          2  is clearly not ready.  It's not ready to implement

          3  CBTC.  Not even eight months from now will it be

          4  ready to implement CBTC.

          5                 I really would like to establish the

          6  facts here. You just said that your outside

          7  consultant agrees with you position.  What position

          8  is that?  I took it to mean that the MTA believes it

          9  should have exclusive right of use of these radio

         10  frequencies.  Is that what you mean?

         11                 MR. SMITH: Our preference would be to

         12  have a dedicated, licensed frequency going forward.

         13  It doesn't inhibit us from going ahead with this

         14  current --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think Carter

         16  Burgess, your outside consultant, is saying that it

         17  shouldn't just be a preference.  I believe, and

         18  correct me if I'm wrong, I believe that your outside

         19  consultant is saying that you must have exclusive

         20  use of those radio frequencies --

         21                 MR. SMITH: That's not the term they

         22  used.  They didn't use the term must.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, okay.  Then

         24  what exactly is the term that they used?

         25                 MR. SMITH: They are basically

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  concurring with --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: They're agreeing

          4  with you preference?  Is preference the word that

          5  they used?

          6                 MR. SMITH: They are concurring with

          7  that position, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: They didn't use the

          9  word must.

         10                 MR. SMITH: They're concurring with

         11  our position, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the MTA's

         13  position is that --

         14                 MR. SMITH: This is an FCC issue,

         15  Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: No, no.  This is an

         17  MTA issue. This is an issue for subway riders.

         18  That's what the issue is.

         19                 Now, you may need the FCC's approval,

         20  or you may need the FCC's granting of a license, but

         21  ultimately, it's a subway rider's issue.  We don't

         22  want it to become a subway rider's nightmare.  So

         23  I'm going to try it a few more times.

         24                 The MTA's position is that if prefers

         25  to have exclusive use of these radio frequencies?
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          2  Yes or no?

          3                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The MTA does not

          5  believe that it's necessary to have exclusive use of

          6  these radio frequencies.  Yes or No?

          7                 MR. SMITH: No.  It's not necessary.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Oh, no, it's

          9  not necessary.

         10                 So it's okay -- so the MTA thinks --

         11  the MTA's position is that it would be acceptable

         12  for other entities to use the same radio frequencies

         13  that are being used to communicate between the

         14  computer and the subway train.  Yes or No?

         15                 MR. SMITH: Chairman Liu, within a few

         16  years, there will be 46 systems worldwide that will

         17  employ communication- based train control.

         18  Approximately 26 of those will use radio frequency

         19  technology.  Twenty six.  The issue you're

         20  approaching here is an FCC issue of licensing

         21  frequencies.  That is an FCC decision.  It's not an

         22  MTA decision, it's an industry- wide provision that

         23  the Federal Government provides for.  We are working

         24  with the current FCC provisions for the frequencies

         25  that we are currently using.
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          2                 Our preference would be to have

          3  dedicated frequencies.  We don't have that from the

          4  FCC.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why would you prefer

          6  to have dedicated frequencies?  Why would you prefer

          7  to have exclusive use of these radio frequencies?

          8                 MR. SMITH: Going forward, for system-

          9  wide reliability, availability, there is a less

         10  potential for any interference whatsoever with those

         11  dedicated lines.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So in the absence of

         13  a dedicated radio frequency for communications

         14  between the computer and the train, there is a risk

         15  that there's interference.  We call it hacking in to

         16  the system.

         17                 MR. SMITH: No.  That's different.

         18  Councilman. You're talking about two different

         19  things.  Interference and hacking are two different

         20  things.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Interference

         22  is even -- hacking requires a concerted effort.

         23  You're actually trying to get into the system to

         24  either, at best, to be just be behaving badly, and

         25  at worst, to cause damage.  Interference implies
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          2  that it could almost be any kind of signal just

          3  getting in the way between the computer and the

          4  train communicating with each other.  Is that what

          5  interference is?

          6                 MR. SMITH: I would expect, Chairman,

          7  you have a cell phone.  And I'm sure there are

          8  periods of time where you're traveling or whatever,

          9  where you're in the middle of a call and you get

         10  interrupted, or you lose the connection.  That's

         11  interference.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.  And that is

         13  extremely irritating.  And it has caused me to have

         14  much less hair since I've gotten a cell phone.

         15                 Now, when I'm on the phone with my

         16  office or worse yet, when I'm on the phone with my

         17  wife, and the signal gets dropped, it creates a

         18  potential danger for me personally.  Now when we're

         19  talking about the computer, and it trying to

         20  communicate with the train that it's driving, and

         21  having the signal dropped, I think that would be

         22  potentially devastating.  We're talking about a

         23  tragedy waiting to happen, in the absence of the

         24  exclusive use of these radio frequencies.

         25                 Again, this issue with the radio
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          2  frequency is a matter of safety for passengers and

          3  workers on the subways.  And I continue to be very

          4  disturbed that the MTA could sit here and say that

          5  these issues that have arisen in the testing of CBTC

          6  are not safety- related issues.  It is just

          7  appalling that we could have this kind of testimony

          8  in these chambers.

          9                 We have questions from Council Member

         10  Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman.  I'll be very, very quick.  Actually I

         13  have two, and they're really very short.

         14                 Sometime back, when this Committee

         15  had a hearing on this very issue, one of the things

         16  that the MTA brought up was that ultimately, you

         17  would see the entire system being communications

         18  based controlled.  And my question is, and I realize

         19  that that's over many years.  We're talking about

         20  planning, we're talking about the money, we're

         21  talking about the money in the planning stages and

         22  so on.  And this Committee and people who attend our

         23  hearings have heard me say this.  I ride the subways

         24  as well as I drive my car. And I have been on

         25  levels, and sub- levels practically in the basement.
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          2    And without a soul around.  So my question is,

          3  that if the plan, if the objective is to do the

          4  entire system, what in your Master Plan, because

          5  you're going to have different phasing levels, is

          6  the security that everybody's talking about and what

          7  is an evacuation plan for very specific parts of

          8  where this system operates that nobody's around,

          9  because you're on level three, and two, and one.

         10  Which I have been on with no one being there at all.So

         11  is all of this a huge Master Plan that ultimately,

         12  as you phase in your systems, you have those things

         13  addressed and may need modification?  I don't have

         14  the feeling that you have a very master security

         15  plan.  That's a simple yes or no.

         16                 MR. SMITH: Well, Councilwoman, I

         17  can't speak to the security plans.  I'm here today

         18  to talk about CBTC project and the signal

         19  technology.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: You know, these

         21  are all part of it.  It would be like if I want to

         22  eat an apple, and I just look at it and take one

         23  bite, and I'll say I'll eat the rest two days later

         24  when it's all infected.  The fact is that it seems

         25  like you're putting so many carts before the horse.
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          2  And I'm not talking about the technology of it.

          3                 For instance, in talking about the L

          4  train, and what you're doing -- and I know that it

          5  has been referred to, not here, but in others, that

          6  it works in London and it works in Paris. Well, I've

          7  also been on those systems.  One of the thinks they

          8  have that you haven't addressed, and I haven't heard

          9  asked, is that when that automated system comes into

         10  that platform, there are barriers that no passenger

         11  can get through that barrier and get on that

         12  platform.  That's a safety mechanism.  Now what

         13  plans do you have that when that train, when it is

         14  on time, and you're finished and the operation is in

         15  effect, what system do you have that will prevent

         16  the passengers from getting onto that platform with

         17  that automated system which obviously, the rest of

         18  the world who uses these systems has found it to be

         19  very necessary?  And I haven't heard that question

         20  asked.  I don't know if it has, I came in late. But

         21  certainly, it is a major security system.

         22                 We all know New York City.  And we

         23  all know how people try to keep the doors open.  So

         24  what happens?  What do you have in place that when

         25  that train comes in, that you've got people that are
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          2  going to start approaching the platform, and they

          3  get on that platform, and that train is out and

          4  another one comes in? That's a major safety factor.

          5  And you may not be able to address that, but I'm

          6  raising it.  Because that system works very well,

          7  and the rest of the world who uses this system felt

          8  that was a major, major measure to take.  And I

          9  haven't heard that.  So if that's not a

         10  consideration, in using the L train and when you get

         11  it into operation, I think you should.  Because

         12  certainly, having that is part of your capital

         13  expense, because it's part of what you're doing.

         14  And it's part of your operating expense.

         15                 And if you have plans to do the

         16  entire system, we have to be concerned about the

         17  money end of it as well as the safety. Because what

         18  does that mean?  Are you going to cut programs that

         19  now you do for seniors?  Are we going to see over a

         20  20- years span amazing increases in the fare box?

         21  Because as you move along, if you don't do any of

         22  these measures that you're not able to speak about,

         23  and the City has the responsibility for money, and

         24  I'm looking at it from a budget expense.  I don't

         25  know where you are. It seems like you've got one
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          2  part.  You haven't dealt with the whole.  And

          3  certainly, I could tell you, I would not ride that.

          4  I've been on other systems that do that.

          5                 And if you don't have a barrier

          6  that's going to stop everybody from getting onto

          7  that platform without pushing those doors open,

          8  you're making a big mistake, I can tell you that.

          9  And to do that is also a major capital expense.

         10  Because it doesn't happen like that.  And I would

         11  think Councilman Fidler, that you would really want

         12  to look at that very carefully.

         13                 I recognize your silence as that you

         14  can't answer, but I'm raising it because I think,

         15  Mr. Chair, that this is a very major concern.  As

         16  well as the overall scope of this entire project.

         17  Which has a goal.  And that is to automate the

         18  entire system, which is the largest in the world.

         19  That is not something you do testing one area

         20  without looking at the whole.  Because if it doesn't

         21  work, it's tons of money that's been absolutely

         22  wasted.

         23                 And that is a concern of this

         24  Committee.  Mr. Fidler and I serve on the Finance

         25  Committee, and it's a concern of us as well.  So I
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          2  really think you need to take that message back.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          5  Member Sears.

          6                 And the last set of questions from

          7  Council Member Fidler.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Just a follow

          9  up on Council Member Sears point, we did discuss

         10  this at the January hearing at great length.  That

         11  the New York City subway system is not comparable to

         12  any other system that anyone has tried to build this

         13  technology into.

         14                 I just want to follow up just briefly

         15  on the Chairman's last point about the dedicated

         16  frequencies.  And I don't even know if it's a

         17  question, I guess it's just a comment.  It seems

         18  perfectly apparent to me it's not an FCC issue.  If

         19  the MTA is saying that they would prefer a dedicated

         20  frequency, there's a reason for that.  And the

         21  answer was because that there would be less

         22  possibility for interference.  Interference,

         23  voluntary or involuntary.  Voluntary interference is

         24  hacking.  Involuntary is when a signal is lost for

         25  any of a million reasons.  And I'm told that one of
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          2  the problems you've had in putting this together is

          3  the number of dead spots, and the metal dust that is

          4  resident in our system.  Just what will happen when,

          5  let's say involuntary, just accidentally the signal

          6  is lost.  What's the computer supposed to do?

          7                 MR. SMITH: The system provides for --

          8  it has a number of redundancies.  So one specific

          9  signal, or one of the computers on the train may

         10  lose its signal, it doesn't necessarily mean that it

         11  affects the operation of the train at all.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What if --

         13  it's been known to happen -- I'm asking you a

         14  hypothetical.  I'm not saying it's going to.  What

         15  happens if all of the signals are lost between a

         16  particular train and the center?

         17                 MR. SMITH: Then the train would come

         18  to a stop.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: How about the

         20  train behind it?

         21                 MR. SMITH: The train behind it would

         22  adjust its spacing and come to a stop also.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: How?

         24                 MR. SMITH: If there's no signal, the

         25  train won't operate.  It stops.  The train won't
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          2  operate.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No.  Train A

          4  lost its signal, Train B is getting its signal.

          5  What happens?  I'm not trying to ask you a trick

          6  question.

          7                 MR. SMITH: Train B recognizes, the

          8  computer tells it where the other train is, it

          9  adjusts its speed and distance as it approaches the

         10  other train.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So if the

         12  computer is working right, train A has lost its

         13  signal, the computer than is supposed to recognize

         14  that, and that train A still exists and is in it's

         15  last known location, which is it may or may not be,

         16  and then tell train B to stop.  That's what supposed

         17  to happen?

         18                 MR. SMITH: Train B will adjust based

         19  on the information it gets on the location of train

         20  A.  It may stop or it may slow down.  It will adjust

         21  accordingly, and maintain a safe distance.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, let's

         23  say it slows down and train A continues not to

         24  register, and we don't know whether train A is in

         25  its old location, or if it's moved.
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          2                 MR. SMITH: I think it's important to

          3  point out that what you're describing can happen

          4  today.  We have trains that stop for whatever

          5  reason.  Somebody pulls the emergency cord.  But

          6  right now, we don't have a system that provides

          7  information immediately to a command control center

          8  that tells us exactly where that train is and what

          9  is the status of that train.  The CBTC system, with

         10  ATS supervision, will provide us with information

         11  that we don't have today.

         12                 So from a safety and security

         13  standpoint, there are so many features in this

         14  technology that improve the safety and operation of

         15  the system that you really haven't spoken to.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Except that

         17  today, we have an engineer in the front car who

         18  might be able to see that train in front of him.

         19                 MR. SMITH: We will always have a

         20  train operator in the CBTC train.  That's a lot of

         21  information --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Unless of

         23  course, there's something else going on in the rest

         24  of the train.

         25                 MR. SMITH: And I hope I'm not going
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          2  to hear it here, also, but we stated back in

          3  January, the Transit Authority will have an operator

          4  in that train.  That's our policy.  That was the way

          5  this system was designed to maintain that operator

          6  in that front cab.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And nobody

          8  else on the train. I know, you're not here to talk

          9  about OPTO.  Because OPTO and CBTC aren't connected.

         10                 MR. SMITH: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Right.  Okay.

         12  You do go back to my hypothetical --

         13                 MR. SMITH: On our system today.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: On trains that

         15  aren't two blocks long.

         16                 MR. SMITH: It's a separate issue from

         17  CBTC technology.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I guess we

         19  have a fundamental difference of opinion on that

         20  point.  This Committee does not see that they're

         21  separate issues.  Nor do we see safety and CBTC as

         22  separate issues either.

         23                 Now, I want to go back to the

         24  hypothetical, because I asked you what happens if

         25  the computer does what it's supposed to do.  And
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          2  when I walked out I was handed a document, and I

          3  don't pretend to be an expert on this, and you may

          4  tell me that this is not your job, and you don't

          5  know either.  This is a printout of an incident that

          6  occurred on April 6th, when the 240th Street tower

          7  lost control of the track on the 1 and 9 line

          8  between 137th and 145th Street.  Apparently, it

          9  turned out that an unmanned computer console at the

         10  new rail control center seized control of that

         11  section on its own.  Are you aware of the incident?

         12  And can you tell us what safeguards there would be

         13  on the new system?

         14                 MR. SMITH: No, I am not aware of the

         15  incident you're describing or the specifics.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And Mr.

         17  Chairman, when we have another hearing on this

         18  subject, with someone who can speak to the left

         19  hand, the safety issue, I would ask that they not

         20  only be prepared to address the specifics of the

         21  emergency evacuation drill that failed, but that

         22  they be able to speak to the April 6th incident as

         23  well, and that they be told specifically that we

         24  want them to be able to speak to it.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, it's possible
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          2  that it may be a topic of a hearing on its own.

          3  Because it does raise serious questions.

          4                 I thought I was finished, but Mr.

          5  Smith, just bear with me for a couple other things,

          6  just because I need to follow up on what you said.

          7  First of all, that you said that the OPTO and the

          8  CBTC are two completely separate things.  I think

          9  that the issue that this Committee considers is that

         10  CBTC in terms of upgrading the signal system, is a

         11  good thing.  But it does not require there to only

         12  be one person on the subway train.  The Transit

         13  Authority, the MTA can continue to have two people,

         14  as it has for decades, two people operate trains,

         15  even with CBTC in place.  So the fact that every

         16  time that you talk about CBTC, every time the MTA,

         17  no personalization here, every time the MTA talks

         18  about CBTC, they also talk about having just one

         19  person operate the train.  So because the MTA

         20  continues to make those kinds of statements, it is

         21  only natural for the public to concur that CBTC and

         22  OPTO, whatever the acronyms happen to be, are

         23  inseparably linked.  Because every time the MTA

         24  talks about CBTC, they talk about one person

         25  operating the train.
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          2                 I know it's true that on some short

          3  shuttle lines you already have these short trains

          4  being operated by one person. So yes, it's currently

          5  being done already in very limited parts of the

          6  system.  But still, it's the statements that the MTA

          7  continues to make that leads people in the public

          8  and this Committee to associate this One- Person

          9  Train Operation with CBTC.

         10                 With regard to the signals, we

         11  clearly need an upgrade in the signaling to improve

         12  the communications between the trains and a central

         13  command post, as you stated.  That's a good thing.

         14  But that does not necessitate the MTA going towards

         15  the computer actually driving the trains.  That's

         16  the part that we have a problem with.

         17                 So you go full speed ahead on

         18  improving the signal system so that the central

         19  command can better understand where the position of

         20  the trains are, and better communicate with those

         21  trains.  We don't have any problems with that.  What

         22  we have serious reservations on are the plans of the

         23  MTA to allow the computers not simply to communicate

         24  with the trains, but to actually command the train

         25  in its operation.
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          2                 We don't believe that the MTA is

          3  anywhere close to being ready for that.  And the

          4  problems that have been pointed out today, software

          5  glitches, potentially dropped signals so that there

          6  is no longer any communications between the train

          7  and the central computer, those are all problems

          8  that affect, that directly affect the safety of

          9  passengers and workers on those trains.

         10                 You're welcome to rebut that or to

         11  follow up on that, or make no comment.

         12                 MR. SMITH: I'll just close again, and

         13  reiterate, Chairman Liu, that the CBTC project as

         14  you just stated in your last statement, has numerous

         15  safety features that protect the system going

         16  forward, far better than in the past, when we base

         17  it on the operation, or human error.  And the system

         18  takes away that human error.  So from a safety

         19  standpoint, clearly, the implementation of CBTC will

         20  improve safety.  In fact, the UVA study that I

         21  mentioned back in our January testimony, part of our

         22  safety certification process, was completed a month

         23  and a half ago, with the results showing that a

         24  comparison of the existing operation to a fully

         25  implemented CBTC system provides for a 90 percent
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          2  reduction in risk.  Which is a very significant

          3  improvement in the reduction of risk.  And that, in

          4  our opinion, proves that CBTC provides significant

          5  improvements from a safety standpoint going forward.

          6

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We certainly are

          8  interested in making the system more efficient and

          9  finding ways for the system to carry more

         10  passengers.  The CBTC system, as it relates to

         11  updating the signal technology that currently is

         12  still dating back to the 1960s, that's a very

         13  positive thing, and I think the MTA should move

         14  forward as quickly as possible on improving the

         15  signals and communications between trains and

         16  computers.  But that in no way implies that it's a

         17  good thing for the computers to actually drive the

         18  trains.

         19                 And until the MTA fully completes all

         20  of its testing, and is 100 percent comfortable that

         21  the safety of the system has been maximized, then we

         22  ask that the MTA go slower and stop leading people

         23  to think that computers are going to drive the L

         24  train next Spring, or whatever the new timeframe may

         25  be.  The timeframe has already slipped.  You
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          2  haven't' slipped because they have inadvertently

          3  slipped.  The timeframes have slipped because

          4  additional safety concerns continue to be raised

          5                 And so, let's just be realistic about

          6  it.  Let's also keep in mind the general context

          7  within which this discussion is taking place.  That

          8  there are still basic things all throughout the

          9  subway system, for example, Public Service

         10  Announcements, that have not yet been perfected.

         11  And before the MTA embarks on this new fangled

         12  technology that still poses some risks to passengers

         13  and workers, we think that the MTA should work on

         14  the basic things first.  Make sure that all the

         15  Public Service Announcements are legible, make sure

         16  that all our tracks and rails are in good repair.

         17  Do all of the basic things first, before we embark

         18  on this Buck Rogers technology.  Thank you.

         19                 Mr. Smith, I want to thank you for

         20  coming here today.  We will have to hold more

         21  hearings about this, and we try to keep things at a

         22  professional level.  I would also want to thank

         23  Robert Marino and Lois Tenler for being here as well

         24  as the rest of their team.  Thank you.

         25                 Next, we will hear from Roger
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          2  Toussant, the President of Local 100 of the

          3  Transport Workers Union.  As well as Kenneth

          4  Sanders, from TWU also.

          5                 MR. TOUSSANT: It's a pleasure and

          6  thanks for the opportunity.  I'm joined by Kenneth

          7  Sanders, one of our train operators with almost 20

          8  years of service.  And he's here because last

          9  December, he was involved in one of our recent

         10  evacuation on the F line.  And I thought it would be

         11  an opportunity to get the Council a real feel of

         12  what a train crew has to go through in getting

         13  people safety out of a train and up to the street.

         14                 To answer some of your questions, as

         15  they're coming up based on the discussion so far,

         16  I'd ask for Vice President John Samuelson, and Vice

         17  President Nevels to join me up here to answer

         18  questions as they come up based on the discussion as

         19  it occurred so far.

         20                 Before I go into my formal

         21  presentation, there are clearly four areas that I

         22  would like to speak to after my formal presentation.

         23    Based again, on what you have heard so far.  One

         24  is the issue of radio frequencies and that problem.

         25  Another is the question that Fred Smith just raised
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          2  about the need for a dedicated test track for future

          3  CBTC implementation.  A third is the whole

          4  discussion about what does reliability and stability

          5  issues have to do with safety.  Because Fred Smith

          6  indicated that the problems of reliability and

          7  stability are not those of safety.  And fourth, is

          8  the experience in the recent train evacuation train

          9  exercise.  So I'll touch on those things after.

         10                 So I am gratified to be here again to

         11  discuss this matter so crucial to the safety of our

         12  riders and the future of our subway system.  When we

         13  study the different time tables New York City

         14  Transit Authority has published for implementation

         15  of CBTC on the L line, we find that in the most

         16  recent version, the year 2004 has disappeared.

         17  Simply disappeared.  The time table simply passes

         18  from 2003 to 2005 with the milestones previously

         19  forecast for 2004 moved to 2005.  For example,

         20  operating in the shadow mode on the track south of

         21  Lavonia was scheduled for October of '03, then for

         22  October of '04, and how now resurfaced for September

         23  of '05.

         24                 So where did '04 go?  The loss of an

         25  entire year suggests that retrofitting a 70- year
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          2  old subway line with space age technology may not be

          3  the cakewalk that the Transit Authority has

          4  promised.  It is not proven technology as the TA

          5  spokesman has claimed.  Firstly, key components have

          6  been changed in adapting the technology to New York

          7  subways.  Secondly, no subway line as old as the

          8  Canarsie line has been retrofitted with this

          9  technology.

         10                 The last time this Committee inquired

         11  into the matter, a TA witness assured us that a

         12  retrofit was in operation in Philadelphia.  In fact,

         13  that was not so.  That TA witness, by the way, was

         14  Kevin O'Connell, who has been mentioned here by

         15  Council Fidler as well as Chairman Liu.  In fact,

         16  that was not so. A retrofit was in testing in

         17  Philadelphia, but it was not on Philadelphia's

         18  subways, but rather, on a 2.5 mile long stretch of

         19  trolley car system, where several different trolley

         20  lines share a common tunnel.  Nowhere in

         21  Philadelphia are there plans for automatic train

         22  operation as on the Canarsie line.  Trolley

         23  operators will continue to operate the trolleys.

         24                 Even with a delayed and uncertain

         25  time table, the Canarsie line experiment is breaking
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          2  new ground.  Let me at this point, mention the

          3  significance because of Fred Smith's reference to

          4  the need for a dedicated track in the future.  What

          5  needs to be understood here is this goes to the

          6  heart of the problem of retrofitting this CBTC new

          7  technology on system as old as our.

          8                 The reason why the L line was

          9  selected over all other lines in our subway system,

         10  is because it is a segregated line that doesn't

         11  share interlocking with other lines.  That's the

         12  reason why it was selected.  And with all of the

         13  problems with the implementation of CBTC on an

         14  already segregated line, it begs the question

         15  whether these folks know what they're doing.

         16  Because they have not been able to get it right on a

         17  carefully selected line, and now they are saying

         18  that they need a dedicated track in order to test it

         19  further.  And that's the significance of this talk

         20  about the dedicated test track needed for future

         21  projects.

         22                 While the loss of 2004 leaves much of

         23  the time table for the Canarsie line project

         24  shrouded in uncertainty, there is one date that the

         25  TA is one date that the TA is holding fixed.  This
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          2  is June of this year for removing the L line from

          3  the conductors pick. This could lead to a conductor-

          4  less L train as early as July of this year.  About

          5  nine months before the implementation of automatic

          6  train operation, even by their constantly moving

          7  schedule.

          8                 And since the remainder of the

          9  schedule for 2005 may go the same way that the

         10  schedule went for 2004, that nine months could

         11  become 12 months, or 15 months, or 18 months.  So

         12  why should this matter?  Because the ostensible

         13  justification for taking conductors off full- length

         14  trains on the L line is an automatic train

         15  operation, will free the train operator up to

         16  perform conductor's duties.  Yes, the deck has been

         17  cleared for one- person train operation well before

         18  automatic train operation becomes thinkable.  Much

         19  less usable.

         20                 One- person train operation does not

         21  fit the concrete realities of New York.  One- person

         22  train operation does not work under emergency

         23  conditions.  As you know, a few weeks ago, the

         24  Transit Authority held an inter- agency drill,

         25  demonstrating the evacuation of a train by a single
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          2  crew member.  The drill was a disaster, and had to

          3  be aborted.  The drill was a disaster for a very

          4  simple reason.  One person cannot be in two places

          5  at once. We haven't figured that out.  Everyone

          6  knows that they have not figured that out.  One

          7  person cannot both be on the radio with command and

          8  with the passengers.  One person cannot be both

          9  outside the train with the mobile passengers and on

         10  the train with passengers with special needs.  One

         11  person cannot both lead the way to a street- level

         12  emergency exit, and also remain at the track level.

         13                 Yet this drill was conducted under

         14  optimal conditions.  The smoke was imagined, not

         15  actual.  The passenger load was a small fraction of

         16  the normal load.  And the train halted in convenient

         17  proximity to a catwalk, avoiding the need to

         18  evacuate the passengers via the track bed.  Yet, the

         19  drill still failed.  As a matter of fact, I'll point

         20  out that we spent more than a half hour trying to

         21  figure out where to locate a ladder, to bring a

         22  ladder to the train.  We couldn't figure out where a

         23  ladder was located.

         24                 But the problems with OPTO was not

         25  limited to emergency situations alone.  One- person
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          2  train operations doesn't work under normal

          3  conditions either.  A conductor is positioned in the

          4  middle of the train in order to be able to observe

          5  the full length of the train and avert draggings

          6  when the train leaves the station.

          7  An operator is positioned at the front of the train

          8  and is supposed to be observing the controls and the

          9  road ahead, when a train pulls out of the station.

         10  Now, the train operator will be expected to observe

         11  the platform as well, that is, to do two jobs at

         12  once.

         13                 In a system where a full train runs

         14  two blocks long, this is not only impractical, but

         15  dangerous.  And this is the specific condition that

         16  you're contemplating initiating in the next few

         17  months.

         18                 Apart from this, we would lose the

         19  important role of a conductor in interactivity with

         20  riders, answering question, responding to medical

         21  emergencies, and so forth.

         22                 Running full- length trains with

         23  large passenger loads with only a single crew member

         24  flunks the test of common sense.  In recent months,

         25  we have seen the Transit Authority determinedly
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          2  staggering along with station booth closings.

          3  Originally, savings was given as the justification

          4  for closings. Now it turns out that there will be no

          5  savings.  The plan is driven by a vision of what a

          6  subway system should be like, a vision that

          7  privileges technology over people and takes no

          8  account of the concrete realities of New York.

          9                 Let me suggest that OPTO is going to

         10  turn out similarly.  It is not a necessary

         11  consequence of the as yet unproven new technology on

         12  the L line.  Rather, it is another chance to

         13  privilege technology over people.  The small savings

         14  that night come from taking conductors off the

         15  airlines cannot stack up against the $366 million

         16  already committed to implementing CBTC on the

         17  Canarsie line, let alone the $1.8 billion already

         18  committed to CBTC system wide.  Nor can it stack up

         19  against the very real cost of passenger safety.

         20                 The plans of the TA to introduce

         21  robotic technological and staffing changes in the

         22  system, all changes that merely reflect upon rider's

         23  safety should be subject at each step to independent

         24  oversight, and independent venting.  Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRMAN LIU: Thank you.

          3                 MR. TOUSSANT: I'd like the train

          4  operator, Kenneth Sanders to read a brief account of

          5  his train operation incident in December and then we

          6  can entertain some questions.

          7                 MR. SANDERS: Good morning Chairman

          8  Liu and members of the Transportation Committee.  My

          9  name is Kenneth Sanders. I am a Train Operator on

         10  the F line.  I am here to talk to you about the

         11  safety that a two- person crew can provide for our

         12  passengers.

         13                 The F train that I drive is almost

         14  two blocks long. When evacuations happen, one person

         15  cannot be expected to safely move that many

         16  passengers out of a train that long.

         17                 Last year, early in the morning of

         18  December 1st, a northbound train derailed south of

         19  34th Street.  I was the operator on that train.  My

         20  conductor and I, between us, safely evacuated all 57

         21  passengers.

         22                 The derailment caused an electrical

         23  fire between the fourth and fifth cars of the train.

         24    My conductor evacuated the passengers from the

         25  fifth to eight cars out of an emergency exit. This

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  left me free to evacuate the first four cars of the

          3  train out of the 34th Street station.  If I was

          4  alone, I would not have been able to make it

          5  directly from the front half of the train to the

          6  rear four cars.  Evacuation of the rear cars would

          7  have been delayed, even while the smoke built up and

          8  passengers panicked. The team of the Conductor and

          9  Train Operator made it possible for the evacuation

         10  to occur without incident.

         11                 I ask you to tell the TA not to split

         12  up teams that help save lives and provide quality of

         13  service to transit riders.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         16                 Thank you for your testimony.  And

         17  clear illustration of the real- life problems that

         18  exist.  President Toussant, I just want to talk

         19  about your testimony for a couple of minutes.  At

         20  least.

         21                 Towards the end of your testimony you

         22  talked about how the MTA has committed a great deal

         23  of funds to implementing CBTC not only on the

         24  Canarsie line, but systemwide.  And early in your

         25  testimony, you have another acronym, ATO, Automated
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          2  Train Operation.  Now, admittedly, it takes us a

          3  while to sift through the lingo and the acronyms

          4  that the MTA uses, but I think that, would it be

          5  safe to say that it's not the CBTC system that you

          6  necessarily have concerns about, but it's really the

          7  ATO portion of the CBTC that you're concerned about?

          8                 MR. TOUSSANT: No.  That wouldn't be

          9  accurate. Actually, it's all part of an integrated

         10  plan.  OPTO, Automatic Train Operation, Auxiliary

         11  Wayside Signaling System, optical readers to deal

         12  with train positioning, train location and on- time

         13  train information, and relay that information

         14  continuously by radio frequency between wayside

         15  responders, the trains, the control center, and not

         16  necessarily in that order.  It's a loop technology

         17  that goes, train, wayside, responder to train, to

         18  rail control center, rail control center directly to

         19  wayside responders, back and forth and so forth.

         20  It's a continuous loop.

         21                 All of that is part of their

         22  integrated plan to transform the system into

         23  automatic operation over time.  And a one- person

         24  train operation is very much part of it.  So it is

         25  scheduled to be brought in in phases, but is all
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          2  part of an integrated plan. So the Computer-based

          3  Train Control is the overall caption for where they

          4  want to end up.  And we are saying that is certainly

          5  plagued with problems.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The MTA likes to

          7  talk about how it's necessary to upgrade the

          8  signals.  And it seems right that we should expect

          9  that the MTA should update the signals, because

         10  they're still using 1960s technology, and just in

         11  these past few months, there have been many problems

         12  related to subway shutdowns or disruptions because

         13  of malfunctions in the signal system.

         14                 So perhaps my question then is that

         15  the CBTC, it does imply computers driving the

         16  trains.  But a portion of that has to do with

         17  upgrading the signal technology.  Is that something

         18  that raises concern?  Or is it something that

         19  clearly needs to be done?

         20                 MR. TOUSSANT: It clearly needs to be

         21  done.  Let me be very clear here.  We are in favor

         22  of technology improvement in the subway system from

         23  the signal modernization project to providing on-

         24  time information to customers, more accurate train

         25  location, being able to adjust train headways more
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          2  accurately, and all of the associated benefits with

          3  technology improvements.

          4                 I guess our problem is that they have

          5  unnecessarily coupled together this new technology

          6  to personnel reduction.  Which are really ill-

          7  advised.  And I think that as a result, that has

          8  spun into trying to rush headlong into technology

          9  improvement that are ill- advised and untested on

         10  the one hand, right?  And additionally, because they

         11  spend more money and are throwing more money at the

         12  problem, they are less inclined to retreat and say

         13  that they were wrong here or they were wrong there,

         14  and so forth.

         15                 So they are going hell- bent, and

         16  they then just spend money to allow some of these

         17  new technology companies to essentially use our

         18  subway system and the public pulse to develop this

         19  new technology as opposed to applying proven

         20  technology to our existing system, they are actually

         21  planning to spending hundreds of millions of dollars

         22  to assist Siemens and others in developing this new

         23  technology.

         24                 I'll point out that Mayor Bloomberg,

         25  last week, said that you need, for security and
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          2  safety purposes, you need security guards at

          3  building entrances and lobbies.  At the same time,

          4  for security and safety purposes, he's silent as to

          5  why you would need a conductor on a train with 2,000

          6  people.  Which common sense to most New Yorkers and

          7  subway riders.

          8                 Because they have a link together,

          9  new technology with eliminating personnel, and

         10  because they are determined by their own vision

         11  eliminate personnel, they are making a series of

         12  missteps and poor judgement with the application of

         13  this new technology.  So that's a long- winded

         14  answer to --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The MTA said today

         16  that OPTO has nothing to do with CBTC.  Is that an

         17  accurate statement?  Or what do you think if that?

         18                 MR. NEVELS: Good morning Councilman

         19  Liu, Councilman Fidler, sir.  My name is Randy

         20  Nevels.  I am the Vice President of Rapid Transit

         21  Operations for TWU.

         22                 In regard to the CBTC, I think there

         23  needs to be some clarification.  A lot of it is

         24  referred to as Computer- Based Train Control.  But

         25  it is Communications- Based Train Control done
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          2  through the RF signals as you were talking about

          3  earlier.

          4                 Basically, what happens is that once

          5  these trains are signaled to respond to certain

          6  types of situations, the transponders basically

          7  transmit signals to the computers, and the trains

          8  are supposed to react according to whatever commands

          9  are given.

         10                 Now the ATO, the Automatic Train

         11  Operation, so the train will be acting under an

         12  automatic mode.  The OPTO portion of it is the one-

         13  person train operation.  In the event that there's a

         14  malfunction, this person is supposed to manually

         15  take over control of the train.

         16                 So it's different components to this

         17  whole scenario, but they all feed into the same

         18  situation in terms of CBTC.  Now CBTC --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the MTA says

         20  that CBTC and OPTO are two completely different

         21  things.

         22                 MR. NEVELS: Well the difference is,

         23  one is dealing with fact that you're dealing with

         24  the signals and the communication; as opposed to the

         25  person actually manually operating the train under
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          2  OPTO.  But that's the only difference.  But the fact

          3  is, it's all inter- related.  Because of the fact

          4  that they want to, as President Toussant just

          5  mentioned a moment ago, they want to reduce

          6  personnel.

          7                 So if they can get this train to

          8  respond to signals through the radio frequencies,

          9  and basically get into start, stop, go, whatever.

         10  And they can basically say that we've got cameras on

         11  the stations, we don't need somebody to look out of

         12  the window, so we don't need a conductor.  That's

         13  their point, to reduce personnel.

         14                 But the fact is is that it's all

         15  inter- related, but the only separation is that it

         16  actually means in terms of CBTC is Communication-

         17  Based Train Control, to control the train by

         18  communications.  That's what it is.

         19                 MR. TOUSSANT: Let me just add quickly

         20  here.  The original time table called for

         21  simultaneously beginning certain early phases of

         22  CBTC with the implementation of OPTO on the L line.

         23  Because recently, they have come to the conclusion

         24  that they are unable to go ahead with their schedule

         25  for CBTC, they have decided to go at it nonetheless
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          2  on the L line.

          3                 Now, the reason why they did the

          4  evacuation drill and the reason why they are looking

          5  to begin OPTO on the L line, is because that's the

          6  line that's loaded with CBTC and new technology.

          7  That's where they are widely implementing signal

          8  modernization, wayside responders and so forth.

          9  They outfitted closed- circuit television systems

         10  along the L line.  And other devices intended for

         11  one- person train operation.  So there was always

         12  clearly a connection.  And that's obviously the

         13  reason OPTO is on the L line and they intended to

         14  begin there first, because that's the line loaded

         15  with CBTC technology.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So this statement or

         17  contention that CBTC and OPTO are completely two

         18  separate things is nonsense.

         19                 MR. TOUSSANT: It's disingenuous, it's

         20  not outright dishonest.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         22                 And with regard to the one- person

         23  train operations that are currently in effect, do

         24  you have a good sense of which lines have OPTO

         25  currently?
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          2                 MR. TOUSSANT: Well the short

          3  shuttles.  You have five or six lines, for instance,

          4  Grand Central- Times Square, the Franklin Shuttle,

          5  and so forth.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how many cars

          7  are these shuttle trains?

          8                 MR. TOUSSANT: By agreement, and by

          9  arbitration, the decision was no more than five

         10  cars.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: No more than five

         12  cars on any of these shuttles.

         13                 MR. TOUSSANT: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are there any trains

         15  that are longer than five cars that are currently

         16  operated with one person, under this OPTO scheme?

         17                 MR. TOUSSANT: No. And again, this is

         18  limited stops and obviously in the case of Grand

         19  Central, it is just to move between Times Square and

         20  Grand Central.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What's the maximum

         22  number of stations served by these shuttle lines?

         23                 MR. TOUSSANT: Probably half a dozen.

         24  On the Franklin line, there's probably five

         25  stations.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Five or six stations

          3  maximum.

          4                 On the L train, how many subway cars

          5  are on each train that runs on the L line?

          6                 MR. TOUSSANT: Eight.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And how many

          8  stations are there on the L line?

          9                 MR. TOUSSANT: I think 26, we can

         10  obviously check that very quickly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the MTA continues

         12  to say that OPTO is already in effect.  And so

         13  implementing OPTO on the L line is not a big deal,

         14  because OPTO is already in effect.  But in reality,

         15  OPTO is only -- the only trains in the system that

         16  are being run by one person currently are these

         17  relatively short shuttle lines that range anywhere

         18  from serving two stations to six stations.  And that

         19  have no more than five cars on the train itself.

         20                 Whereas on the L line, we're talking

         21  about a line that includes 26 stations, that is many

         22  miles long, and has eight cars on the trains.

         23                 MR. TOUSSANT: And has an under- river

         24  tube.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And goes under
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          2  river, which poses additional risks and hazards that

          3  might need to be dealt with.

          4                 MR. NEVELS: That's right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, I just

          6  wanted to set the record straight there, that the

          7  MTA contention that OPTO and CBTC are completely

          8  separate concepts, that is utterly absurd, and it is

          9  certainly disingenuous for the MTA to continue to

         10  testify that while OPTO is already in effect, and so

         11  implementing OPTO in June of this year should be no

         12  big deal because they've been doing it years now

         13  anyway.

         14                 Did you want to add something, Mr.

         15  Nevels.

         16                 MR. NEVELS: And another thing that

         17  should be noted is that when they run these OPTO

         18  operations, it's usually done at a time when it's

         19  late at night, when you have low ridership.  So

         20  these operations are carried out, but they're only

         21  done at certain times, so that you don't have a huge

         22  crowds actually board these trains.  In some cases,

         23  like I said, it's very late at night when you do

         24  these things.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are you saying that
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          2  the one- person train operation now isn't even all

          3  the time on these shuttles?

          4                 MR. NEVELS: It's not all the time.

          5  It's not all the time, and not on every shuttle.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So in other words,

          7  during rush hours, there are still two people, even

          8  operating these short subway shuttle trains.

          9                 MR. NEVELS: Well, that's if they have

         10  a run at rush hour.  Like l said, most of the time

         11  these operations are run at night, late at night,

         12  when you have low ridership.  And basically, during

         13  the heavy ridership rush hour times, the majority of

         14  these shuttles are not running.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see.  That's

         16  another point well taken.  Their proposing to start

         17  by June, OPTO, one- person train operation on the L

         18  line.  I was going to ask the MTA these questions,

         19  but they would clearly refuse to answer any

         20  questions on OPTO.  So we will be scheduling another

         21  hearing inviting them to speak on OPTO, especially

         22  as they propose to start this on the L train this

         23  coming June.

         24                 So we have to ask you these questions

         25  because we're not getting any answers on the other
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          2  side.

          3                 What they're proposing for June, on

          4  the L train, is that just during off- peak hours?

          5  To have one person operate those trains?

          6                 MR. NEVELS: That is supposed to be,

          7  from what I understand, an ongoing 24- hour

          8  operation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So even during rush

         10  hours they would only have one person operating the

         11  L line.

         12                 MR. NEVELS: Exactly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  We're very

         14  concerned about that.  And I want to thank you for

         15  your testimony today.

         16                 I'm sorry, we have some questions

         17  from Council Member Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: First, Mr.

         19  Chairman, I want to suggest that the statement that

         20  Communication- Based Train Control and One- Person

         21  Train Operation aren't inter- related is so

         22  ridicules that it should be the New York One Punch

         23  Line of the Day. It's like saying your heart and

         24  your lungs aren't related because one is cardiac and

         25  the other is pulmonary.  CBTC is technology, OPTO is
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          2  the personnel who operates the technology, and they

          3  are inexorably inter- related.  So it's just

          4  absolutely absurd.

          5                 I am incredibly concerned with what

          6  you told us about the MTA's plan to implement OPTO

          7  on the L line, which is, as everyone knows, serves

          8  my constituents this Summer.  And I'm aware of the

          9  fact that the only reason that they were able to do

         10  OPTO on the shuttles was a result of an arbitration,

         11  a remediation and an agreement with your union.  Are

         12  you prepared to take steps to prevent them, by

         13  filing a grievance or whatever other labor mechanism

         14  you have under your contract to stop them from

         15  implementing OPTO on the L line in July.

         16                 MR. TOUSSANT: We have already

         17  initiated all of the measures available to us

         18  contractually.  There is an arbitration filed.

         19  There is a court challenge filed as well in

         20  connection with your move from the subway control

         21  centers and the rail control center which they

         22  intend to have run by supervisors instead of by our

         23  tower operators.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Do those

         25  challenges specifically relate to the plan to
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          2  implement OPTO on the L train?

          3                 MR. TOUSSANT: It relates to OPTO

          4  expansion beyond the shuttle.  And to the schedule

          5  for CBTC implementation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What is the

          7  status of those challenges at this point?

          8                 MR. TOUSSANT: We have the cases filed

          9  and we expect to be able to get an arbitration some

         10  time this Summer.  Now, we intend to make sure it

         11  gets before an arbitrator prior to any expansion

         12  actually beginning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And do you

         14  have a court action pending as well?

         15                 MR. TOUSSANT: A PERB action, Public

         16  Employment Relations Board for unilateral action on

         17  the part of the Transit Authority.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What are you

         19  prepared to do should you not get before an

         20  arbitrator before they start implementing OPTO on

         21  the L line?

         22                 MR. TOUSSANT: We are not right now

         23  contemplating laying down in front of the tracks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: It's a

         25  thought.
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          2                 MR. TOUSSANT: It's a thought.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I would be a

          4  much more imposing target.  Perhaps more tempting.

          5                 MR. TOUSSANT: We intend to explore

          6  the availability of injunctive action if in fact it

          7  looks as if they are going to attempt to proceed

          8  with actual unilaterally.  Then we will attempt

          9  injunctive action.  And we hope that various elected

         10  officials and the City Council would stand up on the

         11  public safety issue. Because there is again, it is a

         12  matter of common sense that disaster is awaiting.

         13  With respect to a train being trapped in an under-

         14  river tube, or 2,000 passengers on a train during

         15  the rush hour and a smoke condition, there is no

         16  question that we are courting disaster.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: You can be

         18  sure this City Council Member will stand with you.

         19  That's for absolute certain.

         20                 I'm not familiar with how PERB

         21  hearings work.  Is the MTA required to put in an

         22  answer to your grievance?

         23                 MR. TOUSSANT: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And have they

         25  denied, in this answer that they intend to move
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          2  forward with OPTO in July?

          3                 MR. TOUSSANT: From all indications,

          4  their most recent issued schedule and so forth is

          5  that they do intend to proceed.  So now the timeline

          6  has become very constricted, and some type of action

          7  or intercession is necessary between now and the

          8  Summer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'd be

         10  interested knowing in every possible way what we can

         11  do to help you stop them from implementing OPTO,

         12  particularly on the L line, anything that I as a

         13  Council Member, or this body can do.

         14                 You passed around, I believe you

         15  passed around, this estimate of CBTC- related

         16  construction contracts and costs.  And while I

         17  recognize that it's difficult to cull out of this

         18  those that are related merely to signal upgrades,

         19  which we all agreed are necessary, and those that

         20  are more broadly intended, to the things that we're

         21  not looking forward to.  I see that the total comes

         22  to over $2 billion in the 2005 budget alone.  Is

         23  this your document?

         24                 MR. TOUSSANT: 2005 capital plan.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Right.
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          2                 MR. TOUSSANT: Yes.  This is drawn

          3  from an MTA document, but it is our summary drawn

          4  from MTA document.  And the general way to

          5  understand it is in the first paragraph, it points

          6  out that conventional systems, that is non- CBTC

          7  systems cost about $1 million per mile.  But by the

          8  MTA's chief engineer for the Long Island Railroad

          9  alone, in explaining why they refuse to proceed with

         10  CBTC on the Long Island Railroad, they use the

         11  figure $6 million to $12 million per mile,

         12  depending, for the implementation of CBTC systems

         13  compared to conventional systems.  So the cost, if

         14  you consider the conversion of 689 miles of track in

         15  the transit system, you're talking in excess of $6

         16  billion.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's

         18  operating cost?  Or construction costs?

         19                 MR. TOUSSANT: Capital construction

         20  costs.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: When you say

         22  the 2005 capital plan, then this $2 billion dollars

         23  isn't all contemplated to be expended in 2005, this

         24  is spread out over how many years?

         25                 MR. TOUSSANT: Over a five- year plan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Over a five-

          3  year plan.  And I'm looking at the first line, where

          4  it says CBTC Canarsie line Phase II and III, which

          5  was $217 million in award, and is a $243 million

          6  now.  I assume that the $288 million figure that Mr.

          7  Smith gave us this morning is reflective of those

          8  two numbers plus a Phase I that is not on this

          9  sheet.

         10                 MR. TOUSSANT: Right.  That's what it

         11  appears to be.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And the reason

         13  that he is able to say $288 million as opposed to

         14  the $366 million that it actually is reflected when

         15  you look at all the other things is because he

         16  conveniently separates out the OPTO and any

         17  improvements that are necessary for OPTO like the 24

         18  station closed- circuit cameras which are all part

         19  of OPTO from CBTC, because they are not inter-

         20  related in his world.

         21                 MR. TOUSSANT: Right.  He separates

         22  out money spent from up to, and from money

         23  committed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So the reality

         25  is that the L line project is going to cost $366
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          2  million, and not $288 million. If it comes in as

          3  budgeted.

          4                 Do you know what the total estimated

          5  cost to build the Second Avenue subway is?

          6                 MR. TOUSSANT: I believe the last

          7  number that I saw was between $17 to $20 billion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.  Mr.

          9  Chairman, I want to say this one thing.  And

         10  obviously, I think you and I are in complete

         11  sympathy with the testimony that's been presented

         12  here. We've been accused of being anti- progress by

         13  opposing MTA initiative, and I guess maybe I ought

         14  to go back home to my shack and my butter churner

         15  and my black and white TV.  But I don't see it that

         16  way.  I'm all for progress, but I'm also for safety.

         17  And I'm also for making intelligent choices about

         18  spending billions of dollars.  And the MTA seems to

         19  be moving headlong into spending these billions of

         20  dollars with the public safety be damned, because

         21  someone's gotten into their head that they like this

         22  idea.  And I did ask the question, who appoints the

         23  members of the Board of the MTA.  And it's the

         24  Governor and the county executives, and the Mayor.

         25  And unfortunately, the Council doesn't get any
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          2  authority in this matter.

          3                 And so I think we need, as a

          4  Committee, as a Council, and as a City, to start to

          5  make this an issue for Mayor Bloomberg.  That he

          6  needs to understand that safety of tens of thousands

          7  of riders is being influenced by his appointees on

          8  the MTA Board.  And we're going to find a way to

          9  stop them from doing this short of an arbitrator,

         10  which is our only other alternative. We need to

         11  raise the pressure and the dialogue level and we

         12  need to have the Mayor's Office come here at the

         13  next hearing and hear what they have to say about

         14  the safety issues that their appointees on the MTA

         15  Board are permitting to go unheard.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         17  Member Fidler.

         18                 I want to thank President Toussant

         19  and his team from Local 100 for testifying today.

         20  And for your patience.

         21                 MR. TOUSSANT: We would like very much

         22  to take you up on the offer to hold a hearing

         23  regarding OPTO being implemented and have Kevin

         24  O'Connell --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We clearly need to
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          2  have a hearing because we have not gotten any

          3  information directly from the MTA regarding OPTO and

          4  the information, the little information that they

          5  presented in their last testimony in January, it

          6  conceals the truth somewhat.  So we will certainly

          7  hold a hearing on that.

          8                 MR. TOUSSANT: Thank you, I appreciate

          9  it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have one final

         11  witness, Mr. X, please join us at the witness table.

         12                 Thank you for coming.  Once again Mr.

         13  X.  I'm hoping that we can keep it succinct.

         14                 MR. X: Thank you very much.

         15  Regarding OPTO, I can tell you all the lines that

         16  are affected by it if you'd like me to.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think we already

         18  know, based on the testimony of the previous panel.

         19                 MR. X: Well, all right.  I'll do that

         20  later.

         21                 As I said before, I'm against CBCT

         22  what I've heard so far in the last four months.

         23  It's dangerous and unsafe, and as I said earlier, if

         24  you ride L train between Broadway Junction and

         25  Atlantic Avenue, it's pretty high above the ground.
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          2  I'm sure he knows, you don't run an automated train

          3  between those two points because that's really a

          4  danger zone right there.

          5                 So as I said before, I think this is

          6   -- first it was OPTO I was against that, and now we

          7  got CBCT, I'm definitely against that.  I don't know

          8  what's gotten into the MTA officials, particularly

          9  Mr. Smith, with his cocky attitude.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, it may please

         11  you to know that we share concerns Mr. X.  So thank

         12  you very much for joining us today.

         13                 MR. X: Taking my side, that's a

         14  different story.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         16                 There being no other witnesses, this

         17  hearing of the Transportation Committee Meeting is

         18  adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            106

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 3rd day of May 2005.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          LENORE NAGLE

                                                            107

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              LENORE NAGLE

         23

         24

         25

